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CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION
"Anthonyl Fearless and daring, who hath not heard

Of this great man of action, by deed and by word?"

Few men, if eny, who maintain an active participation
in publiec affairs can escape arousing strong emotions on
the part of both sdmirers and detractors. Daniel Read
Anthony was by no means an exception, From the time he
first exploded onto the pages of Kansas hi:tor;, Daniel R,
Anthony was prominently before the public longer than any
other man in the history of the state.,l He was & man of
many interests and meny causes, Into whatever area he
chose to venture, he soon became a center of controversy.

Anthony first came to Kansas in 1854, one of the
thirty-one members of the original group of settlers sent
by the New England Emigrant Ald Company., As a member

lyansas State Historical Soclety, "Kansas
Biographical Scrapbook,”™ II, 18, 1his set 1s a miscel-
laneous collection of newspeper clippings pertaining to
Kansas history., All volumes referred to are from series
A. Hereafter cited as "Serapbook™; Charles L, Anthony

e el g g At Lol frm A i

PP. 364=365, Hereafter cited as Anthony, Geneology



of this group, he assisted in the founding of Lawrence,
homesteading a claim on Mount Oread, Returning shortly
afterwards to his home in New York, Anthony attended and
spoke before the 1854 convention at Saratoga Springs
which founded the Republican party ln that state.
Returning once agaln to Kansas in 1857, he settled in
Leavenworth, at that time a pro-slavery stronghold.
While his ostensible purpese in returning to Kensas seems
to have been to establish an insurance office, Anthony
also began to speculate in land and land warrants, and
within two years after his arrival he had established a
bank, He had e brief experience as the publisher of a
newspaper, the initial issue of which scooped the state
in announcing Kansas' stetehood. He sold the peper eight
months later, after enlisting in the Seventh Kansas
Volunteer Cavalry, As a lleutenant colonel, Anthony was
partly responsible for the actions which led to the
Seventh Kansas being known as. the "Jayhawksrs," a ternm
which was not applied with great approbation, While
serving in Missourl, Anthony and his men seriously
compromised Lincoln's policles in the border states and
were gullty of acts which eventually led to the demands,
on the part of Union officers, that elther the seventh

Kansas voluntarily remove 1ltself from Missourl or be
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driven out by Unlon troops. While staticned in Tennessee,
Anthony's actlons became the storm-center of a controversy
between the United States Jenate and Lincoln's administra-
tion,

Returning to civilian life 4in 1862, Anthony became
one of the acknowledged leaders of the state Hepublican
party, Le was soven times nomluated for mayor of
Leavenworth, twice clected; twice nominated for the state
legislatwre, elected oncej five times appolnted as post-
master of Leavenworth, serving sixteen years in all; two
times a presidentlal elector; numercous times a candlidate
for the United States senate; attended practically every
state Tlepublican convention; was several tlmes chalrman
of the State Republiceu Central Committee; and was at
least twlce o candldate for the Republican nomlination

for govcrnar.z As a newspaper edltor and publisiher, he

2Edsar L-nsldcrf end R, ¥, Richmond (eds,), "Letters

of Daniel R, An 185 7-15621 f%!!?!ﬂ!*‘i’i"ﬁﬁ
» XXIV (1958), 7. state

Anthony was elected mayor thrto ti-at. There are many
discrepancies in the various accounts of events and dates
of events in Anthony's life. In these cases of conflict,
the events and dates incorporated in the body of the text
are those that seem moast plausible on the basis of avail=-
able information., In major areas of such conflicts, a
footnote citation 1s used., Hereafter cited as Langsdors
and fichmond, "Lattcrl. -Horeaflter KHY will be used to
indicate jg%lff 'sggfﬁsslxﬁ in addition to the
above, the follo ng men Anthony was "trustee
and director of several railroad corporations,” Katherine
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won state and mnstional recognition which led; after his
death, to his elevation to the Lansns Newspaper Hall of
rnmn.3 He was & member of and helped to organize various
newspaper organiszations and editorlial assoclations im
Kansas. Anthony was on the first board of directors, a
life-time member, and a conspleuocus eontributor to the
Eanses State Historileal Soclety.

Up to and including his eightieth year, /Anthony
maintained a vigorous participation in public affairs,
In the forty years he had been in XKansas he was involved
in three gun duels, engaged in numerous fistfights,
horsowhipped, pistole-whipped, beaten with a cane, spit -
upon, cursed, dencunced, flattered, oriticlsed severely,
and revered, If D, R, Anthony was not a central player
on the stage of Kansas hlstory, he was certsinly conspie-
uwous in upstaging the more prominent uctors.“

.ﬂ"‘&%,“i"‘!m"ﬁ gy e A

“&M. Pe 486, Hereafter cited as Anthony, History and
=r8.

3nxansas Historical Notes," EHQ, III (1934), 336.

e, . , few men in Kansas, if, indeed, any, have
advocated more radical unpopular measures that have after-
warda become the adoptaed policy of the atate as represented
by the pnrty in control of public affairs than has Col.
Anthony.," W, W, Admire, "An Sarly Kansas Ploneer,"

WW, % (1889), 701. Lersafier
as A e, oneer," "Conspicuous he always
wes, a pletureaque riguro. but never a commanding one in
the statels pllbuc w. .“rm"k. VI' 123.



The events in Anthony's life can be essily
chronicled; but, sz most men's, his personslity remsins
en elusive quality, It is the purpose of this study to
record the events of his 1ife and, in addition, to try
to capture and portray a portion of this personslity, a
personality which had a significant influence upon the
pages of Fansas histery for nearly helf a century, This
quest for en understanding of Anthony, the man, is complie
cated because Anthony, a powerful and influentisl newspaper
editor, had full access to sn organ to express himself to
the public and hence to history while his opponents,
numerous and prominent pe they were, did not always have
at their disposel this means to publie opinion, It 1e
further compliceted becsuse of the vieclent partisan eorotions
that Anthony seemed to ercuse om the part of his comtempo-
reries, Apperently, few people viewed Anthony's ections in
a2 purely objective menner; elither he was condermned as one
of the most treacherous snd despicable villains or he was
pralsed as one of the truly great men in the history of
the state,
Some of his more unsympethetic contemporerles
described him as follows:
The fiendish, bloodtuirsty proprietor of tLhe
Leavenworth 1 » 18 80 fearfully low down and
utterly despicable . . o that the very dogs . . . [would |
pass him by, « « « lils beastiality of cdlsposiition, and

brutishness of heart, have banished him from the walk
in 1life of every gentleman, and he stalks through our
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streets, desplsed, shunned, and hideous to the sight
of those who ; « o« loathe disagreeable or disgusting

surroundings.

Gentlemen, congregated on the sidewalk, scatter
at his epproach, as though a cyclone of eplidemic
pestilence was imminent, and ladies shudder, as they
drop their vells and shrink with horror, when they
realize his vicinage.  « «°

De Ry Anthony was thrashed, last week, in the
streets of Leavenworth, by a book agent., As there
is no ordinance in Leavenworth against kicking a
dirty dog in the streets, even though he be Mayor
of the city, the men was not arrested.7

One thing we admire in U, K, Anthony is, that he
never goes back on a friend, His best friend is the
Devil, the rataor of lies; and Anthony never goes
back on a lie.

His zealous admirers sald:;

Col, Anthony is & man of very positive character,
of a high sense of public duty, end an indomitable
will to carry out his convictions at all hazards,

e bows to no humen dictation, but unflinehingly
advocates those principles in publ&c life that to
him seem best for the public good. .

Scecil Howes, "Pistol-Peckin' Pencil Pushers,” KHQ,
XIII (19&&-19&5)‘ 120, Hereafter cited as Lowes,

"Pistol-Packin',” From an article in the Kansas City
Iimes, May 30, 1880.
61bia,

Tiames C. Malin "Judge Lecompte and the 'Sack of
Lawrence,' May 21, 1856: Part 11“ KHG, XX (1952-1953),
S573. Hereafter cited as Malin, "Lecompte.” From an
erticle in the Kansss Chief by Sol Killer,

bia.

9Adm1ro, "Early Filoneer," p, 701.



Daniel R, Anthony was one of the ablest men of
his generction in Eensas., e possessed that ability
8¢ genereslly sdmired of fighting without quarter in
behalf oflany movement in which his convictions were
enlisted,

Abgsolutely without fear, as true to the cause of
freedom &s the needle is to the pole, a leader among
leaders, Lieut.-Col, D, RilAnthonJ was the Oliver
Cromwell of Kansas. . »

In order to present Anthony's story, this study is
divided into six parts, the approach used being both
chronological and topical, 7The second chapter contains
the history of the Anthony famlly in genersl and of
Daniel Read Anthony in particular to the year 1860, The
story of his participation in the Civil vWar forms the
subject of Chapter Ill, The fourth chepter is primarily
concerned with the years 1862 to 1893 when Anthouy was
actively engaged in state politics. Anthony's attempts
to build a newspeper empire and his role in various news-
paper organizations and editoriel associsticns are

presented in Chapter V, Chapter V1 is both a general

1041111am E, cimouoy. M
Chicago: s fub Conpcn:
T9I552 oo Sheeang, g

reafter cited as Connelley, Standard
History

11Adm1ro, "Zarly Ficneer," p. 700.



review of the iuformailon presented previously and a
presentation of other facets of Anthony's life not
mentioned before, This, then, is the history of the
Eansas Quaker, Laniel fead ianthony,



CHAPTER II1
PRELUDE TO CONFLICT

"In the perilous days of his new western home,
With 1ts broad rolling prairies, the sky for 1lts dome;
With his keen, plercing eye, and his strong will
and mind,
He foresaew weal or woe [or the hosts of mankind,"

A, W, Stubbs

The Anthony femily originated with William Anthony
of Cologne wao migrated to Englna# during the reigna of
sdward V1, at which time Anthony was made Chief CGraver

of the Hoyal Mint and Master of the Zceles, He held this
position under Queen Mary and during part of slizabeth's
reign, GHis grandson, Francis Anthony, was a chemist who,
about 1600, became interested in a medical career and
began to sell a cure-all which he manufactured from a
secret formuls, This remedy he called "Aurium Fotabile,”
which was gold dissolved in potable form, This formula
quickly scquired a wide public appeal and Anthony did a
brisk and profitable business, Although calling himself
a doetor, irancis Anthony failed to obtain a license from
the London College of FPhysiclens which became incensed
over his deception and profitable business, Anthony was
subsequently arrested for practicing without a license
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and unsuccessaful attompts were made to obtain the secret
formula of his "Aurium Fotabile,” "The formula remained
in the family for several generstions and became the
foundation upon which its wealth was based,l

The American branch of the Anthony family began
with John Anthony who was born in 1607 in Hempatead near
London, He migrated to New Ingland in 1634 and was a
resident of Portsmouth, Rhode Island, in 1640, The
great-grandson of John Anthony and Danlel R,'s
great-grandfather, David, bought land, just prior to the
Hevolutionary War, near Adams, Massachusetts, in an area
which was then regarded as the lar West,? His son,
Humphrey Anthony, was a Quaker and was known as a man of
"indomitable will and strong charamcter.,” DLaniel k,'s
maternal grandfather, Danlel Head, served under Arnold
during the Revolutionary war, "enduring the hardships of
the winter campaign ageinst Quebec, and later fighting
in the 3Battle of bonnlngton.'3

lAnthony. : PPs 10«20 Alma Lutz, o

B. Anthony: Rebsl, Cr er, Humanitarian (Bostoni Seacon
Press, I9§9). Ps 311, Hereafter cited as Lutz, jugen 5.
Anthony.

( )zLui;, _!!gg Be » Pe 311 Frank H, Holmes

comp,. Lire New
s AR e

atorical Lociety, Iinec,, 923), Ps Vi. The name Anthony

comes Irom the Greek and signifies a flower, flourishing,
beautiful, graceful, Ibld,

, 3Conn0110y, Stendsrd Hiastory, V, 2385; Lutz, Susan
éo Anth » Pe 311.
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Although Paniel Anthony, father of Laniel Read
Anthony, carried on the Quaker tradition, "he hed the
reputation of thinking for himself, following the 'inner-
light' even when its leading differed from the considered
judgment of his fellow Quakor-.'h His wife, Lucy Recd,
was not a Quaker and Daniel received a severe condemnation
from the church elders for "marrying out of meeting."

In fact, his wife, a member of a wealthy end prominent
family and fond of ostentation, parties, and gay clothes,
found herselfl occasionally chafing under the stern restric-
tions lmposed by her marriege, However, she was a dutiful
wife and closely followed the Quaker beliefs in her home.
She attended the meetings but never became a CQuaker,
"feeling always that she could not live up to thelr strict
standard of rightoounnoul.'s With a strong Quaker religious
background prevailing in the Anthony home, there also devel=-
oped an atmosphere of liberality in religious and business
matters., Daniel, on several occasions, was criticlzed

by the church elders for straying from the strict tenets

of the Quaker chureh, Once he was reprimanded for wearing

a cloak which was considered ostentatious; and in spite of

continued remonstrances by church member:, Denlel continued

4Lutz, Susen B. Anthony, pp. L=5.
SMQ’ Ps 6o
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to wear the cloak. After Anthony suffered severe losses
in the Panic of 1837, the church saw fit to reamind him
that thls was because of his erring from the true path:
Wuakers dié not countenance speculation, In spite of the
almost constant friction which exiated between Anthony
end the church, the elders felt his conduct and observances
were sufficient to counteract his numerous offenses and
Anthony was not expelled from -u-borahip.6
Because of the finencial losses suffered in 1837,
the Anthonys were forced to sell their home and possessions
and take up residence in an old bullding which had once
served as a wayside inn, Because & large room on the
second floor of the bullding wes not in use, the young
people of the locale urged Anthony to sllow them the use
of the room for dencing, Anthony, of course, refused their
request untll he was told they would have to use the facll-
ities of a nearby tavern. Rather than allow the young
people to be forced to seeck thelr recreation in such a
place, Anthony relented and allowed the dancing to be
conducted in his home on condition that his children not
be allowed to participate, slthough they might sit and
watch, For this trsnsgression, regardless of motive,

Anthony was severly criticised by the Quakers and read

61v1d., pp. 6-12.
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out of meeting, Although no leonger a church member, he
continued to attend the meetings with his family, growing
more end more liberal as the years went by.7 He also
continued to allow the young people to use hls home for
their dancing lessons,

Daniel Anthony showed the effect of hls Quaker
background in many ways. He, of course, did not coun-
tenance the use of liquor under any circumstances. Frior
to the Panic of 1837 while operating a cotton mill, he
attempted to avoid buying cotton ralsed through the use
of slave lebor, He refused to vote and peay taxes, not
wishing to support a government believing in war, Unlike
Thoreau, he had no desire to be imprisoned to prove his
point and when visited by the tax collector, Anthony
would place his pocketbook upon the table and remark, "1
shall not voluntarily pay these taxes, If thee wants to
rifle my pocketbook, thee can do lo.'s

The Quakers pleced great stress on educatlion for
boys and girls slike., Dlaniel Anthony's father started
& school for neighborhood children on his front lawn,
Frior to 18137, leniel did the same, setting aside a room
in his home for the education of his children send for

7lb£d0. Pe 13.

S,
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the children of the neighborhood, He even sterted an
evening school for his mill workers,?

In 1845 the Anthony family, with the exception of
two married daughters and Danlel E,, who waa clerking In
a store in Lenox, settled in FRochester, Wew York. Daniel
became an agent for the New York Life Insurance Company.
Successful in this fleld, he continued in it the rest of
his life and “ochester remained the family home., Quickly
interested in the antleslevery movement which was active
in western New York, the Anthony home became a center of
such antieslavery untimnt.m A regular subscriber to
the Liberator, Anthony's house guests included William
Lloyd Carrison, Fredrick Douglass, Wendell Phillips,

11 6r the

Parker Pillabwry, and the Rev., camuel J, Fay.
seven children born to Danlel and Lucy Read Amnthony, two
were destined to attain a certaln amount of prominence,
Susan B, Anthony, famous for her work for women's suffrage,
and lanlel R, Anthony, the subject of this study,

Danlel Read Anthony, eoldest son of Lanlel and Luecy
Anthony, was born in South Adams, Massachusetitis, on

August 22, 1824, He recelved a common school education

9Ib1do' PP 7—80
Vrpi4,, pp. 16-17.

11vid., ppe 23-2h.
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until about thirteen years of sze when he attended the
academy at Union Village, New York, for about six months,
After lesving the academy he worked for his father, first
in the cotton mill, then s & clerk in the store, and
later in the flowr ma.ll.u In 1847, Paniel R, joined his
family in Rochester where he taught two winters in @
country school "for want of more congeniel employment,”
He went into the insurance business, presumsbly with his
father, nfter this Interim work in tesehing.l3 on his
seventy-third birthday, Anthony wrote the following
rccount of his early years:

1 commenced work at the ege of 12 or 13 years,
in a cotton factory making cotton batting, and
attending to running the spinning frames.

Later 1 helped my father work in a sawemill,
cutilng up spruce, hemlock and pine logs. My
fathor was unfortunste enough in 18137 to fail
in the business of cotton and woolen manufac~
turing, as 414 nearly every cotton and woolen
manufacturer in the United states . . . which

conditiona of things was brought ebout by
Demoeratic rule and free trade.

iz
Anthon %;n.gﬁg‘;. Pe 364, A cotton
manufecturing :n such a8 Anthony: McLean & Co,,
"consisted of [a | cotton mill proper, & store, flouring

mill, saw mill, mechine shop, blecksmith shop, and all
the other necessary cntablll‘-antl. « « " 1bid.

131b14; connelley, Standerd History, V, 2385-2386.



1l afterwards engaged in the running of a
country grist mill , . . And many & day 1
ground alone, from three to four hundred
bushels of grain. . . .

. - *» @ L L - - L] . L L Ld - » - . - L] L] s a

I afterwards did some farming, then ongaged
in insurance, emigrated to Kansas in 1854, in
charge of the first emigrant ald party that
ever came to Kansas.

This interest in the emigrant aild movement had a
profound effect on the future course of Anthony's lit..ls
It was this interest which led him in the direction of
Kansas; end it was from a desire to promote the Free
State cause, which had originally influenced him to
support the emigrant ald movement, that led to his early
involvement in both politics and journalism, While most
authors agree that the New England Emigrant Ald Company
was founded primarily as a profit-making venture, and
that most settlers it sponsored came to Kansas in search

of cheap lend, the myth has persisted that its purpose
was to flood the Kansas territory with Free State men

lh“Sorlpbook,‘ 11, Lo=41.

15An interesting and capable article on the
Emigrant Ald SQoiot is Louise Barry, "The Emigrant Ald
Parties of 1854," » XII (2943), us-lss. The basic
study of the New nnd Emigrant Ald Company is Samuel

A, Johnson, The o, 8 %ﬁw ﬁ“.n‘.’

as! Univcrn ty of Kansas rress, Hereafter
cilted as Johnson, Battle Cry.
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who would oppose the pro-slavery forces already th.ro.16
Some ploneers did it this popular conceptlion of the
emigrant aid settlers. Avallable informetion indicates
that D, R, Anthony was one of those settlers who came

to Kansas to do battle with the "black waves of slavery,"
Thirty-two years later, in a speech given at the cele-
bration of the Kansas Quarter-Centennial held in Topeka,
Anthony gave his reason for undertaking the journey to

Kansas:

e« » ¢« 1L came o «+ o Decause, under the teachings
of Garrison, Sumner, Gerritt Smith, and Thad, Stevens,
1 had been brought up to detest the methods by which
the political slave power of the country was seeking
to rob this free government of i1ts birth-right of
free territory. . . «17

Anthony, not one to wait thirtye-two years to give

the ressons for his esctions, expressed this same sentiment

16
Albert E, Castel,

i%!é (Ithaos. New Yci%z cornnII UEi%ﬁE’i%‘A%boal.

)s Pe 4O, Hereafter cited as Castel, _ME’L;: tate.
Castel is one who presents this view as a myth, and cone
cludes that ", ., . very few of those who settled in Kansas
durlng the fiftlies did so for idealistic antislavery
reasons, LEven Brown probably came to Kansas originnlly
for no higher purpose than ac uiring some land,"”, Ao,
PP» 40<ll, citing James C, Malin, Pﬂﬁ%

or P 080

L f P - Philsdel
Leegd of Firpy-Six (Pidladeighis J

17 samire "Barly Pioneer,” p, 695. This celebration,
January 29, 188&, was sponsored by the Kansas State
Historical Soclety of which Anthony wes president at the
time.
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in 1054 when the first wave of emigrant pid settlers
reached the mouth of the Kensas Alver, A meeoting was
held which declded 1t would be both unwise snd unheslthy
for the group to show its true sentiments on the slavery
question., Fow nmembers of the group, includiag inthony,
would not 8o agree and withdrew from the meeting,

e o » bhaving first declsred that they nad come

Lto Kanses | to assist in establishing s Free State}

that they Hated slavery and the slave powerj and

that they did not propose, now that they were

entering a field upon which this contest was to be

fought to s finish, to show the white feather by

keoeping thelir mouths clgesed whenever the subject of

slavery wea mentionad,

How Anthony happened to join this originsl growp

of settlers is not clear, Jome years later, Anthony, in
a speech before the 0ld settlers meeting at Blamark Grove,

stated that X1i Thayer wrote to him directly, requesting

18 «p Pe &91, ihis westing was held on July “.
185&" The .-1' :‘Im uttwd:mrr.b it ::o} De Re
“n Jamuel Fe Llappan, v, T . e
muuin. I later ‘ou. 2 newspaper correspondent,
celerk of the first territorial legislature, " . 4 « a
co=worker and compsnion of United itates Senators Ingalls
and Plumb, John Srown, of Osawatomis, ete," Lr, Joan Doy,
in 1859, was sentenced to five years ilsprisounment for
helping sleves to eacape to lebraska, Le was, Lowever,
resousd from Jail while coafined in 4te Joseph and given
& public reception his retwra to Lawrence.
"irehibald was & or and a promineat Free Liaste
cheracter.” 1bid. )
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that he join the perty.l? He did not explain low Thayer
learned of hls interest in such an undertaking, Dr, John
Doy states that a public meeting was held in Rochester in
June, 1854, on behalf of Eansas and infers that two citi-
zens of Rochester were so excited by the meeting that
when the party of ploneers passed through in July, it was
joined by U, R, Anthony end himself.20 It is highly
probable that by this time Anthony's name wes well known
in antie-slavery circles; as will be explained, it does
not appear that Anthony's declsion to join the first

)]

19¢haries &, Gleed (ed.), Lhe morial: 4
R t of the 01d Sett eetl t Blsmark Grove,
zigiii'—r sas City, ssouri: ess of ey, Millet
& son, 1880), p, 103, Hereafter cited as Gleed,
M o Eli Thayer, 10191899, was a Massachusettis
educator, leglislator, and congressman, He was the founder

and principal promoter of the New ingland Emigrant Aid
C ompany .

2°Dan101 W, Wilder, The Annals of Kansas: -%885
(new edition; Topeka: 1. mﬂfﬁ: T hneg'ar-': nansas ?%&%a ng
fouse, 1886), pe. 294. Hereafter cited as Wilder, Annals.
Anthony, at the time of his first involvement in Kansas
history, was thirty years old, There are two brief
descriptions of Anthony at this time., "Physically he was
of square, solid frame, 'bullt for strength,' was six feet
tall, and welghed one hundred and oishzg pounds, His
voice was clear and powerful, and in public speaking he
had no difficulty in making himself distinctly heard and
understood by every one, im the largest outdoor audience,"
Anthony, o s Pe 378, He was "tall, athletic, six
foot in he t, square bullt and well proportioned, His
dark eyes flashed., IHis blood boiled on a minute's
notice . . « Anthony was one of those wko chafed and
fretted at delays." “Serapbook,” 11, 20.
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emigrant group was as spontaneous as Doy would lead one
to believe, but was reached only after careful thought
and efter correspondence with Thayer, However exaggerated,
there must have been some basis for Anthony to have
declared that he was in charge of the first emigrant
group; he must have been in some poaltion of authority.
Also, it would seem unlikely that Thayer, with his
pronounced feelinga on the slavery question, would
assemble the first emigrant group to Xansas without
assurance that there were at least some who shared his
anti-slavery views, On July 18, 185}, Anthony became
one of the twenty-nine settlers bound for Kansas, Never
having been wesat of Chicago, Anthony wes troubled as to
what to take with him on his journey. His decision weas
recorded in a letter published in a western newspaper.
1 finally packed my valise as 1f 1 were going

down to New York, and I had cause to be glad., 1

:::-2“:.;:11 ::: :::ozgig.:;duvéﬁgo}ngf.g;;okx:ilk

neckeloth two yards and a half long was wrapped

about a standing collar until 1 oouldg't turn my
head, 1 soon dropped these foibles.2

2lwgorapbook,” 111, pps 177-178, Anthony did not
completely drop such folbles, When again prepering for
the journey to Kansas in 1857, he found it necessary to
purchase two silk hats; one white and one blasck. Also,
in a letter to his mother dated March 1li, 1859, he
enumerated a recent purchase of clothes., "Have just had
twenty shirts mede-«6 colored Linen [ White Linen-~l1l0 Cote
ton with Linen c¢colars & Bosoms,=--Some with colars, rolling
some without any colarse- , .  the lot cost me $50.00==Als0
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Upon reaching Kansas City the group was joined by
the two advance agents of the New lngland Emigrent Ald
Company, bringing the total number of settlers to
thirty-an..zz A member of this group, B. R, Knaepp,
deseribed the journey from Kensas City in a letter whieh
was later published in the Boston News,

We prepared ourselves at once for starting. An
ox team was purchased to transport the bagzage and
at ten o'clock Saturday evening [ July 29 | we started
on foot « + « across the prairie, WYe traveled as
much as possible during the night as the weather was
very hot during the middle of the day. We saw occa-
sionally a log house as we passed along, inhabited by
farmers, of whom we obtalned milk, ete. On the evening
of Sunday we encamped on the lands of the Shawnee
Indians, On Monday morning we started early, and in
the evening arrived at the Wakerusa River, aithin ten
miles of our destination . . . Here we established
our camp, and pitched our twenty-five tents, which
made & fine appearance though somewhat solled, On
Wednesday the mecond day of August, we went to work
setting up our claim to the lands, and preparing for
permanent settlement.23

S Shaker Flannell sShirts & 3 Do Drawers 1 pr Cass Pantse-l
Blk Do 1 Brown Coate=1 Blk velvet vest--l1l pr Boats--eosting
$75 « ¢ ¢« o" Langsdorf and Richmond, "Letters," p. 217.
All of An s letters and czoorptl from his letters are
verbatim; spelling errors, such as "colars" in the above
quotation, and the unusual punctuation are as Anthony wrote
and used them,

227pe two who then Jolned were Charles Robinson,
who later became the first governor of the state of
Kansas, and Samuel C. Pomeroy, who was one of the flrst
two senators from Kansas, Pomeroy later became the
pgouidontinl candidate for the Frohibitiomnlist perty in
1891.

23
Ricuzya Cowvdley, g;g f;;
{Lawrence, Kanseas: E, F, Caldwell, 1l 55. PPe g-b ero-

after cited as Cordley, Lawrence. Iiwe letters written by
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According to another source, the group did not
immediately begin settlement in Lawrence. It first
considered settling on the Wyandoite reservation and a
commitiee, whieh included Anthony, was formed to look
into the ponsibility.zh The committee decided 1t would
be lmpractical to locate on the reservation, and it was
then declided to settls in the areca now kmown as Lawrence,
Several days were spent "claim hunting" all around the
propoaed town site, which at that time boasted only one
houss, Anthony reported later:

While at Lawrence 1 pre-empted a quarter section
of land on Mount Oread, where the university now
stands, My solootlonzgf the rocky land was due to
a spring on one side.

After staking out their claims, about half of the

group returned Zast with the intention of returning the

following spring with their families.26

Anthony describing the Jjourney can be found in Loulse

Barry, "The Emigrant Ald Partles of 1654," KHQ, XII
(2943), 119-121, ’

2hcherles Robinson, 1 g.nnzg (New York:
Harper & Erothers, 1892), p. ’1. eafter cited as
Robinson, Conflict.

25'scrapbaok.' 111, 178, After returning to
Rochester, Anthony relinquished his claim to Samuel F,
Tappan, .

2600@41.:, Lawrence, p. 6.
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Anthony's motive for returning to Rochester ls
not definitely known.2! He wes unmarrled and, in fact,
he steyed not until the following spring but for nearly
three yoars, Nelther is there extensive information
avallable &s to his activities in Hochester from 1854 to
1857, slthough there are some indications he again became
an insurance agent, presumsbly wilth his father,

In writing of the originsl group of setilers Lo
come to Kansas and of Daniel R, Anthony, ex~Governor
Robinson had this to say:

The names of thls party will go down the ages as

the names of men who dared begin a conflict against
great odds, To single out individuals would seem

mv1d1°u‘ a L] - D. R. Mthﬂ“ E ] L] . m Om. Vith
the party but returned tast until 1857, is & fit

27In the Kansas State Historical soclety, Charles
and Sara Robinson MSS, 1s an interesting letter by George
Washington Brown addressed to Mrs, Robinson and dated
December 5, 1904, In this letter Erown states: "1 met
Uy Re Anthony for the firat time at Saratoga, about the
middle of August, 1854, I having gone there to arrange
with Thayer for en early removal to Kansas, and Anthony
%o report on the success of the ploneer party that went
out with Dr, Rebinson to locate the town site of
Lawrence . » « An mede no stay at Lawrence, which
he reached Aug, 2, '54, but haatily retraced his steps
to meet Thayer and report as atated," This letter was
occasioned by a midwestern newspaper article stating that
the heroes of the free Kansas story were John Erown and
D, Ry Anthony, G W, Brown took exception to this article,
stating that Anthony was a "private" person--one who did
not actively engage in the political affairs of the
time~-whose name was not known in the prominent anti-slavery
circles, and who did notpublicly express his political
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specluen of the material required to beal back the
black waves of slavery . . « He was and 1s and ever
will be irrepressible, Mo cause espoused by him
from conzéetion will be relinquished while his life
remains,

Life remmined with Anthony, however, and he had
not remained in Lansas to "beat back the black waves of
slavery.” LUe had most certalaly espoused the antie-slavery
cause from conviction, <&z he notl as Iirrepressible as
Roblnson hed thought? Or was Lls three year stay in
New York 1ln some way connected with the "couflict against
great odds"{

it 1s interesting to nole that within one mouth
after Anthony's retwrn to New York, a mass coanventlion,
comprised of the "old Whig party, and the Lansas and
Nebraska party,” met in Saratoga sSprings "for the purpose
of organizing the Republican party | in New York |"29

When the conventlion assembled, Anthony was present, [lie

sentiments until after the Free State forces were in
control of the leglislatuwre and 1t was safe to do so,
Drown coneluded thati the real heroes in making Lansas
a free¢ state were Robinson, Thayer, and EBwing., George
%, Brown to Ssra Robinson, December 5, 1904; Charles
and Sera fAoblnson M35, Keansas State Historiecal society.

285obinson, Confliet, pe The

2901.cdi8§§ggg511,.p. 103. 7This convention met
in September, .
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was introduced to the sssemblege by Eli Thayer ss "one
who haed just returned to tell the story to the thousands
who were anxious to go West and help meke Lanses free," X

Anthony then proceeded to give a "practicel and convineing

speech on Kansas."3%

1 spoke to them of the richness and productiveness
of Kansas solil, of what a magnificent country it weas,
of its capabllities, and what the futwe had in store
for those who had courage to go there and help bulld
up and develop the natural resources of the nounnSi,
and above all, save it from the curse of slavery.

FPurther indicatlon that Anthony wans actively working
for the iree State cause 1s contained in a letter to Anthony
by EZ1i Thayer in 1893, Theyer had been studying the VWilliams
Barnes' letters which contained the correspondence of the
New York State Kansas Committee of Albany.

These letters very mueh increased my edmiration for

yourself and for your patriotic devotion to the cause
of free Kensas, Fow I very much doubt whether anyone
in Kensas did so much as yourself in yowr absence from

the territory to accomplisi: the grand result ., . .
achlieved by our organized emigration.33

30114,
3lrgerapbook,” II, 35.

3%01ced, Memorial, p. 103.

33'§crapbook.' 11, 35. 7The purpose of this letter,
as stated by Thayer, was to give Anthony recognition for
hig "great work in the state of New York in organizing
colonies for Fenses." Ibid.
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Exactly how actlive Anthony wes in the "cause of
free Kansas" is not known, Johnson notes one emigrant
group for which Anthony supplied recruits, On April 15,
1856, a party of fifty-three left Boston. Iwelve more
Joined the group inm Albany and "several" more at
Rochester, "raised by D, R, Amu'n'my."m‘P

Evidently, then, it is entirely possible that
Anthony's journey to Kansas and back was not a haphazard
movement, Having become interested in the Eansas Free
State cause, he had entered into aetive correspondence
with Thayer with the apparent idea of becoming an agent
for the Emigrent Ald Company in New York, Defore actively
pursuing this course it could have been decided that he
gain a first-hand knowledge of the situatlion. Perhaps
this is why, on the journey to Kansas, he was "the only
man not burdened with luggage“"e-intending from the

N‘Jmon' batt Cry, pPe l?‘-lm He cites the %E
gggg;%l, Book %i eand 101, In the W. F, Darnes
35, as State Bistorionl Soclety, are several letters

by Anthony requesting tickets for prospective settlers,

There are also several recelpts signed by Anthony as

agent for the New York State Kansas Committee., In one
letter_Anthony stated: "For one I am ready to go | to

Kansas | myself whenever a respectoble number are obtained--" D,
R. Anthony to W. F, Barnes, June 6, 1856; W, F. Barnes Mss,
Kansas State Historical Soclety. In a later letter, part

of the Higginson MS5, Anthony confided that he was thinking
of "visiting" Kansas in March of that year. D, H. Anthony

to Thomas Wentworth Higginson, February 1ll, 1857; Thomas
Wentworth Higginson M5S, Kensas State Historical Soclety.
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beginning to remsin but a short time, Returning to New
York, he had almost ilmmediately begun his work of gather-
ing recrults for the trek west, Later, deciding his work
of organization was done or that the time was ausplclous
for personal involvement, he again set out for Kanans.35
However, if the resson for Anthony's return to
Kansas was to further the Free -tate cause and to stirlke
out sgainst the "slave power of the country," there 1s a
surprising absence of mention of this factor in his
letters to his family., Indeed; his letters during this
perlod are almost solely devoted to matters of business:
hiz interest in insurance, land speculation, and banking.
It must be pointed out that Anthony, while detesting the
institution of slavery, was not a rebld, fire-eating,
uncompromising abolitionist, While there are numerous
reports of his freeing or alding runaway slaves, he was
not prone to loudly proclaim his antieslavery principles

3Sln snswer to a letter from F, k. Adams, secretary

of the Kansas State Historical Soelety in 1898, Anthony
gave his date ol settlement in Leavenworth as June 9, 1857,
Blographical Circulars,” Ksnsas State Historical Soclety,
A«L, These are looseleal folders contalning miscellaneous
items pertaining to famous men in Kansas history, In a
letter dated June 10, 1857, Anthony koldly announced, "Here
I am in the land of Dorder Ruffians. Arrived here Monday
morning June 8th at 10 Oclock safe & sound, + . "
Langsdorf and Richmond, "Letters,” p. 9.



28

when 1t would be unwise te do so. ihen he first errived
in Leavenworth and was questioned as to his feelings on
the slavery controversy, he esvolded glving a direct
snswer., In & politlical campaign he counseled to go
lightly on the slsvery question s0 e&s not to antagonize
possible supporters., Leter, however, when he thought

the temper of the people behind him, he defied his
coumanding offlicer, the United States Army, and President
of the United Stetes over this seame question., The point
is, even though his personal letters mske little mention
of the Ffree -tete gquestion, there can be no doubt thet
this was his primeary resson for returning to Eenses,
Belng a practicsl businessman, he could see no reason why
he could not establlish himeself in business ae well as

eid the Free State cause., The very fact that he chose

to settle, not in Lawrence but in Leavenworth, e
pro=slavery center, would appear to be some indication
that politics still hed an important influence on

D. R, Anthony,

Anthony, however, did not return to Kansss for
political reasons end then suddenly also decide to go
into business, Consider the letter written to his father
on June 5, 1857, while enroute to Leavenworthi

A Lesvenworth man fl mt] e s o« 88Y8 , o o there
sre slresdy four or five Canking offices theree-
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d have no doubt I can meke a good thing out of

the money operation 1 talked of--Lrafts were selling

gt 14 discount only fouwr wWeeks aglO==. + + o

“he Baggage man atl Chicego weighed my Jacking

Trunk filled with Stationsry & Insurance paper--it

veighed 215 pounise=, ¢ « «
The above excerpis indicate Anthony Lad made delflinite
arrangements for opening an lasurance office and
seriously consldered commencing banking operations. it
also indicates he had declided upon Leavenworth as his
sphere of operations and as & likely place to settle.
Consplcuous by its absence is any mention of land specu~
lation which was to c¢lalm most of his efforts upom first
reaching Lansas.

In spite of the lack of supporting evidence, there
is no doubt that the baslc reason for Anthony's return to
Lansas was his desire to sid the lree State causae, however
vague and illedefined this desire might have been. in his
own mind., The assigning of motives or reasons for the
actions of an individuel is at best only an intelligent
guess, In deoing 30, several items must be considered:
the background of the individual, his pronouncements, his
preconcelved ideas, and his subsequent actions, 1t is
dangerous, however, to rely heavily upon the indlviduesl's

pronouncements after an cf.nt for two reascns: first,

, 36Lnngndort and Richmond, "Letters," p. 9.



soms amount of ratlionalizatlion may nave Lempered Lls
original motives; second, the passage of tlme Las the
tendency to diminish or cloud the memory. also, as in
the case of inthony, the lndlvidual's coneeii Lends to
magnifly his own part la the event .37

in searching for reasons or motlives for Anthony's
actiones it must be kept in mind that his home environment
was such to encourage the development of qualitles of
determination, stubbornness, devotion to a cause, a
progresslve and crusading spirit, a willingness to fight
against odds, and a predisposition to disregard tradition,
public sentiment, or legsl statute when they stood im the
way of some lmmedlate objective. These were evinced in
varying degrees by three members of the Anthony familys
Panlel, Susan B,, end Canlel Read, .,nother trait to
consider in determining the reasons for the various
actions of U, R, Anthony is that at no time in his life
did he have a definite pgoal towards which he waa
workinge-immedliate objectives, yes, a definite goal, no,
Because of thias, he was not hampered by being forced to
rationalize or to explasin to himself how his actions were

37Anthony. as quoted earlier, declared hiuself to
have been the leader of the first party sent out by the
Emigrant Aid Company., There have been numerous articles
written about this gronp{ none comnsulted mentioned Anthony
in any way as being the leader,
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helping to achieve his goal, Because of this, he was

not restricted in his sctions since he could always
Justify them in terms of an immedlate end or objective.
S5till another tralt that must be remembered is that
Anthony was not troubled with self-doubt, There 1s no
evidence of his ever questioning whether he was right or
wrong, he simply essumed he was right and those who
opposed him were wrong., He was a free sgent restricted
only by the most fundamental ideas of ethies, morality,
and religion, His actions were like a salling ship, able
to tack with the wind, Conslistency over a period of time
was not a requirement he placed upon himself, He was
free to take advantage of any situation which might
present itself; he appeared to act by instinet, tempered
only by reason, He lived totally in the present, uncone
cerned about the future, as he was sure it would take
care of ltself. e was a restless person, never happy
unless simultaneously involved in several projecta., ke
was not, however, irresponsible, Although believing that
the end justified the means, in important matters he
acted only from deep convictions, This unconcern and
lack of definite objectives are aptly demonstrated in a
letter to his femily discussing his occupationel pursuits:
"For myself I made up my mind to pitch in a little here

gnd a little there and come out some wheree~-but 1 have no
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fear of the result. . . ."38 Anthony, over his next
forty-seven years, was to do just thate-pitch in a little
here and a little there with no fear of the result,

3till another demonstration of his indeclision and
his trait of changing purposes dictated by changing
circumstances are to be found in his early busineas
interests in Leavenworth, Less than a week after the
letter to his father in which he indicated an interest
in both insursnce and banking, he again wrote his father.
This letter showed a growing apprehension of dealing in
banking operations end a developling interest in land
speculation,

I think a good speculation can be made=-money

is worth from 3 to 5 per cent a monthe-but 1t can

be used to much better proflt buying landsee-at
least 80 1 thinke=

« s s e s % b s e s e & s 8 e s s e s ow s e s e
1 shall not do any thing at loaning loney==-, . . .39

The disinclination to open a banking establishment is

confirmed in a letter to Susan B,, "1 shall endeavor not

to loan anything, and from present appesrsnces shall

not + . o |until I [ean , . » tell more about it. , . .'ho

38Langldorr and Richmond, "Letters," p, 20.

39&&9_.’ Pe. 10,
wmg-a Pe 1h.
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That this disinelination dissolved within Just fouwr
months is shown in the following two excerpts of letters
to his father dated respectively, October 1, 1857, and
November 7, 1857, This change, perhaps, was encouraged
by the great demend for cash in Kansas,
I losned 3300, last week 90 days 5 per cent per
month and took a deed of 160 acres of land and a

good note into the bargain, 1 could loan any
amount almost at same rate-

I must make some arrangements for money next year,
It seems to[o] bad not to have money to loan at 57
per month when 1t can be had east at 7 to 10 per cast
per annum snd on poorer security than we get here.
Anthony'a reluctance to loan money was evidently
due only to his optimistic expectations of the profits to
be made in land speculation, With the ineressing demand
for cash on highly advantageous terms and the realization
thet high profits in land speculation necessitated e long
term investment, Anthony beceme less hesitant in loaning
his own avellable funds end sctlvely souyght eastern
cepital for which he could act as banking agent, In a
letter to his family, dated November 26, 1858, he tells
of his increesed benking sctivities:

1 am losning money [32,506] for a New York City
men at I} to 5 per cent per month-~he gives me 6 per

Wlipvid,, p. 21.
421p34., p. 28.
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cent per annium for trensacting the businesa end one
half of all I can make over 20 Rgr cent per annium
end no risk on my | part . . . .

By the middle of December, 1858, he wee able to
report that he hed a total of $1500 loaned out at 5% per
month.uh By Farch of the following yeer, he was writing
his father to seeck an arrangement with some New York
banks whereby ke might loan and circulate their notes in
Eensls.hs Some such satisfactory arrangement wes made as
is shown in a letter, dated May 1llj, 1859, in which he
declared he had made "arrangements to do quite srn extensive
business in the money department, , ., ."l‘6 The nature of
these arrangements is clearly demonstiated in an advertise=-
ment appesring in an 1859-60 city dir@etory of Leavenworth:

D. R, Anthony ané Co.,
Bankers,
Dealers in Money, Exchange, and
Land Warrants.

Collections made in all parts of Kansas and Nebrasks
D. R. Anthony C. W. Souleli?

W31v14., pp. 212-213.

M‘Ibédo, De 2lk¢

b51pia,, p. 220.

thhid. He also informed his father in this same
letter "Have as yet not made a dollar loss--and truat not
to. o o o' Ibid‘. Pe 2210

h7Jumoa Sutherlend and Henry M, McEvoy (comps.),

e il
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In the 1860=6) edition of the city directory
De R, Anthony and Co, is not mentloned, There is an
edvertisement, however, announcing Anthony's "iExchenge
and Collection Office, Dealer in Land Werrants," whieh
then proceeds to list seven banks in New York, Wisconsin,
and Fissowrl with whieh Anthony was affiliated, 7This 1s
the last aveileble reference spplying to Anthony's
interest in banking operations and natwrally leads to
the assumption that for some unknown reason or reasons
Anthony was no longer loaning money, There might be any
number of reasons for his dlscontinued interest in money
metters, Perhaps he was no longer able to obtain the
highly asdvantageous terms he desired or the eastern banks
might have found it undeslirable to supply him with funds,
Ferhaps he became interested in some other area of activity.
Perhaps he simply found it unprofitable or undesirable to
sct as agent for someone else's capital, Whatever the
reason,; he dlssssociated himself with banking practices
and no mentlon is ever made of his revived interest in
this fleld,

Anthony's primary business Interest during his first
months in Kensas was land speculation, oScarcely a letler
went to his family in which he did not prailse the possi-
bllitles in this enterprise or implore the family to send
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him money to 1nrost.u8 Anthony spent the first few
months in Kensas traveling about the northeast portion
of the territory searching for likely sites for specu-
lative purposes, 7The Anthony family did not share

Dy Re's enthusiesm for land speculation and little money
was forthcoming, Money was becoming scarce in the East
and Danlel Anthony had not forgotten his last experience
in speculation, &Some money, however;,; was sent and 1nqp
purchased for a few members of the Anthony family:

These Delaware Lands ere sold by Gov ., . « they
are appraised at from $1.,25 to $4.50 per acre none
are sold below the appraisal and Actual settlers
can have them at that price--but most every one

maneges to evade the Law of the commissioner of
sales-~The cost of putting up cabins for you

ggg::n#gag :nf ?ﬁsy [ for éroonption purposes | . . . is
In & letter dated May 1, 1859, Anthony was able to
announce he owned 1,211 acres of "A No., 1" land within
twenty to thirty-five miles of Leavenworth and that some
of this land was becoming "quite valuable.,"0 This figure
did not include the land he had purchased for his two
sisters, In writing to his brother-in-law in October of

the same year, he explained he had just bought "some

l“'eLnlngm:lm:'r and Richmond, "Letters," pp. 7=30.
491b1d., p. 16.
501p1d., p. 221.
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10,000 scres Land Warrants at 85 cts" and proudly
procleimed that he "now own|[ ed | some 2,000 acres Land
of first quality, . , ."51

How extensive Anthony's land holdings later became
or what profits he realized in land speculation unfortu=-
nately cannot be determined, Occasionsl references to
his reel estate holdings throughout his life demonstrate
he meintained a life-long interest in such speculation,
but the scarcity of such references would indicate that
this did not long remain a major interesat., it can be
assumed Anthony gradually liquidated his holdings, except
in the immedliate vicinity of Leavenwortih,

The third phase of Anthony's business activities
during his early years in Kansas, and the one usually
cited by his biographers, is as an‘insurnnoo Agont;
Although opening an insurance office had been one of his
original objectives in retwrning to Kansas, he had been
in Leavenworth nearly three months before commencing
oporntiona.sz The growth of his agency was slow but
steady. In December, 1858, he was able to open a
sub=-office in Xlwood, Kansas, with D, W. Wilder as his

511p1d,, pp. 222-223.
521p1d,, p. 21.
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asont.53 By this time Anthony was acting for numerous
companies: <The Aetna Insurance Co,, of Hartford,
Comnecticut; lManhattan Life lnsurance Co, of New York;
Mutual Life Insurance Co., of New Zork; Home Insurance Co,
of New York; and The Charter Uak Insurance Coc,, presumably
of conneoticut.5h This agency proved prosperous and he
repeatedly wrote home requeating members of his famlly Lo
come Lo Kansas to help him handle the business in
Leavenworth or to open a branch offiee in Lawrence, One
such overture to his father is as follows:

If you cant make a living in Rochester I would
hire a small boy about 65 years of age and could
afford to give him 41,000 a year, providingsga
would pay his attentlon to business « » « »

Anthony's agency proved so successful he was able to
declare to his family that no one in the territory
approached his knowledge of the insurance business,
One of the secrets of his success, as he saw 1t, is
contalned in a letter to his father presenting this
blt of advice:

e « o give no ecredit to any man who 1s doubtful.
in any case or for any reason, demand proupt payment,

531b1d., p. 216,

S4pdvertisement appearing in Leavenworth Daily
Times, January 9, 1853,

ssLnngadorr and Richmond, "Letters,” p. 201.
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betier loose sooe bDusiness thaa te rum hagard
Always wmake them pay up defore the monih o.-"

These were not serely words of sdvice, but a atstement
of polliey which i 4 Ny followed assiduously, as ovidenced
in another letter o his fathers:

nnlp:.-“ it ”I:t&hs:'(mof:sm
L S Sl B
next -.n.-i?'

Exmctly whea Anthony disconiinued hls sgecoy is
scother fect sbout which 1ittle is kmown, The last
referones Lo Anthony's loswrance office 1s ceatained in
a letter mentioning Alex U, Niemann, who wes in charge
of the office during most of Anthouy's absence while
serving in the Civil var.®

Singe an attenptl 1s belng nade to caplwre a portion
or segment of Anthony's personality, suy discussion of this
part of his life would bo locomplote unless his visws on
reliszlon were presented, These views are difficuls o
state, because not much mentlion 18 aade of thes, Although
he retalined his smesbershlip in the Juaker chureh in

Hochester after settling io Leavenworth, intaony apyesrs

56&&-- Pe 2k
ﬂm.. Pe 202.
sa}.moo Pe 353
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to have bad little interest in religious matters and even
seoms to have become indiffercnt toward the churech in
goneral, e reported:

i have less faith than ever in preaching or
Lecturing., The world is bound to go to the levil
::{;?gé and the easlest way is to slide along

Eighteen months alter arriving in Leavenworth, /‘nthony
was able to report to his sister, Susan B,, that he had
attended church services but twice., , He recorded his
second attendance as follows:

Spent uundgi in a plous way, og,t me only 25
iR SEMAE T 00 RAGE A% Weth u s o (DB rvmews

S

The church to whlech he referred was the l'emocratle
Episcopal churech ln Leavenworth, Hls description of
the service was brief and to the point, "came around
with the box paid a quartere-got roasted-~heard the
old story--went home . « » ."61

Although nominally a Juaker, Anthony was forced
to undergo a readjustment in his views on religion: [first,
because of the friction between his father and the chwroh;

second, the nature of his business operatlions; and third,

59M0 » Pe 23,

601p14,, p. 211,

611v44,
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his experiences in Kansas., During his first few months
in Kansas, while riding about the state in search of land
investments, Anthony had the opportunity and the occasion
to learn of the ruthlessness and brutality of the Border
Ruffiens, Not only was he astounded that the Border
Ruffians could be capable of such helnous actions, but he
was equally estonished that the less violent pro-slavery
men could condone such acts. In spite of his Quaker
background he became more and more convinced of the need
for meeting violence with violence, This conflict between
his Quaker principles and the lmmediate need for overt
physical action in self-defense could easily have led to
a confusion which resulted in developing or strengthening
his indifference toward religion., This feeling of a need
for physical action is demonstrated in a letter to
Susan B, dated October 20, 18573
My God men who will approve and defend such mens
acts, sre not men to reason with, I know many of
them will not reason, 7The only argument is the
strong arm of might., And were the people once to
stand up and say we will have owr rights, they would
be granted at once=--The Pro Slavery Border Fuffian
Democracy never attack a man here who says he will
defend himself, 5o I have been compelled to wear =a

knife and carry a Colts Fevolver--and the sonloqu.noo
is no trouble will be made on my account,®

6z;b1d., PPe 23-2l4, Howes, "Pistol-Packin',"” p., 118,
reports that "he carried two big horse plstols for many
years and to his dying day these lethal weapons, ready to
20, laid on or in the top drawer of his desk,"
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